Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-13-2016

Drug Testing Compliance Group v. DOT Compliance Service Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 43458

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature Of The Case

This appeal raises questions of law related to application of the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act to claims by an unregistered telephone solicitor, Appellee Drug Testing Compliance Group, LLC ("DTC Group") against its competitor, Appellant DOT Compliance Service ("DOT Compliance"). DTC Group obtained a verdict at trial based on allegations that DOT Compliance informed DTC Group customers of their statutory right to cancel purchases under the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act and encouraged them to do so. The jury's verdict must be set aside because (1) DTC Group did not present evidence of intentional interference that caused a breach of any contract because, under the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act, customers have a statutory right to cancel purchases within three days; and (2) DTC Group's failure to register as a telephone solicitor renders its contracts "null and void" as a matter of law.

DTC Group also claims that DOT Compliance breached a contract by disparaging DTC Group in violation of a non-disparagement provision in a Settlement Agreement. The jury found no damages for breach of contract. However, the jury awarded damages against DOT Compliance's owners, Jeff Minert and David Minert, for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing for reporting DTC Group's illegal price-fixing proposal to federal law enforcement officers, which resulted in an FBI investigation. That verdict must be set aside because (1) DTC Group concedes that it did not present any evidence that Jeff Minert or David Minert disparaged DTC Group in violation of the Settlement Agreement; (2) any call to the FBI does not violate the Settlement Agreement and, in fact, occurred prior to execution of the Settlement Agreement; and (3) DTC Group failed to present any evidence of damages.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 1

B. Statement Of Facts And Course Of Proceedings

1. Defendant/Appellant DOT Compliance

DOT Compliance provides drug and alcohol testing programs and other services that help transportation companies comply with Department of Transportation licensing requirements and reporting regulations. *See* Reporter's Transcript ("Tr."), 436:9-25. DOT Compliance was established in March of 2011 and, during the relevant time frame, was owned and managed by Jeff Minert and David Minert. *Id.* at 431:21 - 433:4-22. The Minert also own a related drug testing company, which has been in the drug testing business for 25 years. *Id.*

DOT Compliance markets its services through telephone solicitations to newly registered trucking companies. *Id.* at 433:1 - 436:25. Each day, the names and contact information of approximately 400 newly registered owners/operators are made publicly available. *Id.* DOT Compliance calls those newly registered trucking companies and offers to sell them services related to drug testing, driver qualification files and related compliance services required by Department of Transportation regulations and licensing requirements. *Id.*

There are only a couple other companies that offer services in competition with DOT Compliance. *Id.* at 440:24 - 441:14. In addition to providing what it believes is the best service in the industry, DOT Compliance sells its services for a lower price than its competitors. *Id.* at 499:1-4; 584:23 - 585:1. DOT Compliance's business model is to compete on service and price, and it openly tells potential customers that its prices are lower than its competitors' prices. *Id.*

2. Plaintiff/Appellee DTC Group

DTC Group is owned by David Crossett. *Id.* at 443:20-24. Crossett learned about DOT Compliance's business plan from a friend who worked as a janitor in DOT Compliance's office

building and had access to DOT Compliance's business records. *Id.* at 272:17 - 274:23. Crossett offered the janitor an ownership interest in DTC Group in exchange for information about DOT Compliance's business. *Id.* DTC Group then approached two DOT Compliance employees and offered them jobs. *Id.* at 275:7 - 276:11; 277:19 - 279:12. The employees informed DTC Group that they had signed non-compete agreements. *Id.* DTC Group had legal counsel review the non-compete agreements and hired the employees anyway because "after speaking to legal, we were willing to challenge it." *Id.* at 279:13-17.

3. The First Litigation

DOT Compliance filed suit against DTC Group and Crossett on July 12, 2013 (the "First Litigation"). *See* Trial Exh. 500. DOT Compliance's complaint included claims for tortious interference with contract related to the hiring of individuals who had signed non-compete agreements with DOT Compliance. *Id.* DTC Group and Crossett asserted counterclaims for slander and tortious interference with contracts, similar to the claims in this appeal. *Id.*

4. DTC Group's Price-Fixing Proposal and the Federal Investigation

In June of 2014, Crossett called David Minert and proposed that DOT Compliance and DTC Group agree not to compete against each other so they could each raise their prices. Tr., 480:18 - 482:21. David Minert contacted an attorney to look into what he believed was an illegal price fixing scheme. *Id.* at 483:15 - 484:6. Two days later, the Department of Justice, Antitrust Division, contacted DOT Compliance and asked it to assist in an investigation. *Id.* at 484:7 - 485:7. The Department of Justice provided the Minerts with a wire and two monitoring devices and asked the Minerts to set up a meeting with Crossett and ask him to explain his proposal. *Id.*

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 3

at 485:8-25. The Minerts did as the Department of Justice requested and set up a meeting with Crossett on July 10, 2014. *Id.* at 486:1 - 487:23.

In that meeting, Crossett proposed a "first call wins" agreement under which each company would agree not to compete for the other's customers so each party could freely raise its prices. *Id.* Crossett stated he was going to raise DTC Group's prices that weekend, which would allow DOT Compliance to raise its prices to the same level. *Id.* at 487:24 - 489:16. DTC Group did, in fact, raise its prices shortly after the proposal. *Id.* at 300:18-1; 495:23 - 496:4.

5. The Settlement Agreement

On July 11, 2014, DTC Group and Crossett entered into a Settlement Agreement (the "Settlement Agreement") with DOT Compliance, David Minert and Jeff Minert. *See* Trial Exh. 500. The Settlement Agreement contained a mutual release of all claims pertaining to "any activities or conduct occurring before the Effective Date of this Agreement, including, but not limited to … interference with prospective economic relations or advantages, … for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, for slander, libel or defamation." *Id*.

The Settlement Agreement contained a "No Disparagement" provision as follows:

(a) The Parties will not disparage each other in their communications with third parties relating to the character, reputation, profession, business, practices, operations, services, facilities, presence, plans, or conduct of another Party, and shall not cause, encourage or suggest disparaging statements to be made by a third party regarding a Party. *Id.*

6. The Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act

a) The Statutory Three-Day Cancellation Period

The Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act (I.C. § 48-1001 *et seq.*) applies to all telephone solicitors making telephone solicitations to or from locations within Idaho. *See* I.C. § 48-

1002(2). The Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act requires telephone solicitors to give purchasers an unqualified right to cancel a purchase within three days "without any penalty or obligation whatsoever." I.C. § 48-1004. To ensure that all purchasers are fully aware of this right, the statute requires that telephone solicitors (1) orally inform purchasers of the cancellation right at the time of purchase and (2) send written notification of the cancellation right following sale. *Id.*

DTC Group acknowledges that it is subject to the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act and, therefore, is statutorily required to give all purchasers an unqualified right to cancel within three days of purchase. *Id.* at 312:2 - 313:4; 338:17 - 339:23. DTC Group claims that it orally informs purchasers of their cancellation right at the time of sale. *Id.* at 605:9-19. However, when customers attempt to cancel they are often told they cannot cancel. *Id.* at 312:8 - 316:4.

DOT Compliance sometimes calls companies that have just recently been contacted by one of its competitors. DOT Compliance salespeople tell those customers that (1) the customer has a statutory right to cancel its purchase within three days and (2) DOT Compliance offers the same or better services for a lower price. Tr., 502:5 - 503:5; 587:2-19.

b) DTC Group's Failure to Register as a Telephone Solicitor

The Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act mandates that all telephone solicitors "[r]egister with the attorney general at least ten (10) days prior to conducting business in Idaho." I.C. § 48-1004. DOT Compliance is registered with the Idaho Attorney General. Tr., 574:12-17. DTC Group is not registered with the Idaho Attorney General, even though it acknowledges that it is required to do so by the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act. *Id.* at 603:17 - 605:22.

The registration process requires that telephone solicitors submit an application, along with proof that its website contains a written three-day cancellation policy consistent with the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act. *Id.* DTC Group attempted to register with the Idaho Attorney General's Office shortly before trial, but its application was denied because DTC Group's website does not include a sufficiently clear three-day cancellation policy. *Id.*

The consequence of violating the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act, including failure to register with the attorney general, is that contracts resulting from telephone solicitations are "null and void." *See* I.C. § 48-1007 ("If a telephone solicitor violates any applicable provision of this chapter, any contract of sale or purchase is null and void and unenforceable.").

7. Procedural Posture

a) The Complaint

On August 18, 2014, DTC Group filed a Complaint against DOT Compliance, Jeff Minert and Ryan Bunnell (a DOT Compliance salesperson). R., 000014-27. A subsequent Amended Complaint adds David Minert as a Defendant. R., 000229-243. The Amended Complaint asserts claims for (1) breach of contract; (2) breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (3) tortious interference with contracts; (4) tortious interference with prospective economic advantage; (5) unfair competition; and (6) civil conspiracy. *Id*.

b) Trial

DTC Group's trial theme was that DOT Compliance attempted to "put [DTC Group] out of business." *Id.* at 118:3-5; 112:19-22. In its opening statement, DTC Group told the jury that DOT Compliance reported DTC Group to law enforcement agencies in furtherance of its goal to put DTC Group out of business. *Id.* at 117:16-21.

Crossett testified about the late-June of 2014 conversation with the Minerts in which they discussed their competing businesses. *Id.* at 177:20 - 183:6. According to Crossett, he made

only an "off-hand comment that I'd been wanting to raise my prices for a long time." *Id.* at 183:21-23. However, Crossett insists that he did not propose any price-fixing. *Id.* at 359:20-21. Crossett then met again with the Minerts on July 10, 2014 -- the day before signing the Settlement Agreement. *Id.* at 185:18 - 186:4. Unbeknownst to Crossett, that conversation was recorded at the urging of federal law enforcement officers. *Id.* at 485:8-25.

In describing his conversations with the Minerts, Crossett testified that he did not ever suggest any price-fixing. In fact, Crossett testified that the Minerts were the ones who proposed the price-fixing scheme. *Id.* at 186:24 - 189:9. Consistent with DTC Group's trial theme, Crossett then asserted that the call to the FBI was "frivolous" and part of a larger plan to put DTC Group out of business. *Id.* at 359:10-21.

Crossett's testimony DOT Compliance's call to the FBI was "frivolous" is demonstrably false because the FBI recorded the July 10th meeting on video. After Crossett testified falsely that it was the Minerts who proposed to fix prices, DOT Compliance subpoenaed the video recording from the FBI and called an FBI agent to authenticate the video at trial. Tr., 466:20 - 475:6. The purpose of introducing the FBI's video recording was to impeach Crossett's testimony in which he asserted that DOT Compliance proposed a price-fixing scheme and then frivolously reported DTC Group to the FBI in an attempt to put it out of business.

The District Court did not allow DOT Compliance to call the FBI witness or play the video for the jury. Tr., 466:20 - 473:25. In excluding that evidence, the District Court ruled that it was "impeachment on a collateral issue." *Id.* at 471:23-25. Part of the District Court's rationale for excluding the impeachment evidence was that DTC Group was not permitted to

claim damages as a result of the FBI investigation. *Id.* at 471:7-8 ("Well, he's not claiming damages for that [the report to the FBI] either").

Crossett attempted to testify as to the "damages" DTC Group suffered as a result of the FBI investigation, including the time, resources and attorney fees it spent in connection with the investigation. *Id.* at 191:4 - 192:14. DOT Compliance objected to that testimony on grounds that DTC Group had not disclosed that claim for damages in its Complaint or in discovery. *Id.; id.* at 206:19 - 214:17. The District Court sustained that objection and did not allow Crossett to testify as to damages allegedly sustained as a result of the FBI investigation. *Id.* at 214:17.

Even though the District Court precluded DTC Group from presenting damages related to the FBI investigation, DTC Group's counsel again emphasized the call to the FBI in her closing arguments. 739:19 - 740:5. Counsel referenced the order excluding damages related to that call, but asked the jury to consider the excluded damages in calculating damages for lost customers:

> And, remember, although -- remember I told you about there was these non-monetary or damages that David couldn't really quantify. Those things being like ... administrative time, time to respond to the FBI investigation, things of that nature that we're not going to be able to recoup because we lost that third bucket. But just keep in mind that those damages were there for David. And he endured all this at the same time that he was trying to run his business. *Id*.

c) Motion for Directed Verdict

DOT Compliance moved for directed verdict at the conclusion of DTC Group's case in chief and again at the conclusion of trial. Tr., 415:15 - 429:3; 651:6 - 655:4. The motions sought dismissal of DTC Group's tortious interference with contract claims because (1) DTC Group failed to present evidence that any Defendant caused customers to breach a contract in light of the statutory three-day cancellation period; and (2) DTC Group's contracts were "null and void" as a matter of statutory law for failure to register as a telephone solicitor with the Idaho Attorney General's Office. *Id.* The District Court denied the motions. *Id.*

At the conclusion of trial, the District Court dismissed DTC's Groups claims for civil conspiracy and tortious interference with prospective economic advantage for lack of evidence. Tr. 643:14 - 644:13; 687:22 - 688:5. The tortious interference with contract claim against David Minert and Jeff Minert were also dismissed because of a lack of evidence that either of them made disparaging comments to DTC Group customers. Tr., 699:14 - 700:8. The District Court did not dismiss the tortious interference with contract claim against DOT Compliance and Ryan Brunell, the salesman who allegedly made disparaging comments to DTC Group customers. *Id.* The District Court had dismissed the unfair competition claim before trial. *Id.* at 75:8-12.

d) Jury Instructions

The District Court instructed the jury on the remaining claims: (1) breach of contract against DOT Compliance, David Minert and Jeff Minert; (2) breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing against DOT Compliance, David Minert and Jeff Minert; and (3) tortious interference with contract against DOT Compliance and Ryan Brunnell. R., 000329-334.

DOT Compliance attempted to call Brett Delange, the Deputy Attorney General who enforces the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act, as a witness at trial. Tr., 457:8 - 466:18. Mr. Delange was expected to testify that he sent an enforcement letter to DTC Group explaining that DTC Group is subject to the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act and that, under the statute, customers have a three-day right of cancellation. Tr., 458:23 - 459:1; 461:19 - 462:6.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 9

The District Court excluded Mr. Delange from testifying on grounds that it was the District Court's job to instruct the jury on the law. *Id.* at 459:13-16. The District Court indicated that it would instruct the jury on the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act, including its provision that customers have an unconditional right to cancel within three days:

As I said, if you want an instruction that the law says that, under the law, a telephone customer is entitled to cancel without penalty -- or however you want to phrase it -- within three days of entering in the transaction, I'd be happy to consider it and probably would give the jury such an instruction. *Id.* at 464:5-16.

DOT Compliance submitted proposed jury instructions that mirrored the relevant provisions of the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act. R., 000287-295. Despite its prior statement that it would probably instruct the jury on the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act, the District Court refused to issue DOT Compliance's proposed instructions or any instructions whatsoever explaining the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act. Tr., 647:4-13.

With regard to jury instructions on the claim for tortious interference with contract, the District Court declined to issue the standard jury instruction approved by the Idaho Civil Jury Instructions Committee, IDJI 4.70, which requires proof that "[t]he defendant intentionally interfered with the contract, **causing a breach**." R., 000266; Tr., 658:22 - 660:12. Over DOT Compliance's objection, the District Court modified the jury instruction to state that DTC Group need only prove that a defendant "intentionally interfered with the contract, causing a breach." R., 000318 (emphasis added).

e) The Verdict

The jury returned special verdict forms on each of DTC Group's remaining claims. The jury returned a "zero" verdict on the breach of contract claim. R., 000329-30. Although the jury

found that DOT Compliance, David Minert and Jeff Minert breached the Settlement Agreement, it determined that DTC Group did not prove any damages as a result of the breach. *Id*.

With regard to the claim for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, the jury determined that DOT Compliance, Jeff Minert, and David Minert breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. R., 000334-335. The jury again determined that DTC Group did not prove any damages caused by DOT Compliance. *Id.* The jury did award \$20,000 in damages against Jeff Minert and David Minert, individually. *Id.*

Finally, the jury returned a verdict in favor of DTC Group on its claim for tortious interference with contract and awarded \$500 in damages against Ryan Bunnell and \$20,000 in damages against DOT Compliance. R., 000331-32.

f) JNOV Motion

DOT Compliance moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict ("JNOV") on grounds that no evidence was presented at trial that David Minert or Jeff Minert personally engaged in conduct that violated the Settlement Agreement as required to establishing such a claim. R. 000430-442. The District Court denied that motion in an oral ruling from the bench. Tr., 806-826. In doing so, the District Court concluded that the jury's verdict against Jeff Minert and David Minert for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing was supported by the fact that they reported DTC Group to the FTC -- even though the District Court had expressly excluded damages for that call and even though the call to the FBI occurred prior to execution of the Settlement Agreement. *Id.* at 817:9 - 818:17 ("And I think in this case the jury could infer that the Minerts and thereafter their company were responsible for the calls to the Department of Finance, the calls to the FBI ... and that was the basis for their finding of liability.").

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 11

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