Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-10-2016

Drug Testing Compliance Group v. DOT Compliance Service Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43458

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

F. ARGUMENT

Based on the facts and arguments set forth below, the Jury verdicts in this case should be affirmed and DTC Group should be awarded its attorney fees and costs incurred in defending this appeal.

1. APPELLANTS' ISSUE 1: Whether the District Court erred in denying the motion for directed verdict on DTC Group's claim for tortious interference with a contract.

In their motion for directed verdict presented at the close of DTC Group's case at trial, Appellants argued that because the Act gives the customer a three day right to cancel, that even if DOT had wrongfully interfered with DTC Group's contracts with its customers, because the customer terminates the contract but doesn't breach the contract, there can be no claim of intentional interference with a contract. Tr., 416; 1 - 16.

The District Court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict on DTC Group's claim for tortious interference with a contract.

² Note that the District Court had previously held, in ruling on Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment, that the Act was not a defense to DTC Group's intentional interference with contract claims. In continuing to pursue the Act as a defense at trial, Appellants asserted that they were making a distinct argument than that which was made on summary judgment. Specifically, counsel represented that in the Motion for Summary Judgment, Appellants asserted that the contracts were void and one could not interfere with a void contract. At trial, Appellants asserted that because customer did not breach its contract with DTC Group (because it was terminable atwill by the customer for three days) that DTC Group could not support an intentional interference with contract claim. Tr., 417; 3 − 19. In sum, Appellants assert that if there is no breach there can be no interference.

(a) Standard of Review

"When reviewing a decision to grant or deny a motion for a directed verdict, this Court applies the same standard the trial court applied when originally ruling on the motion. Weinstein v. Prudential Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 149 Idaho 299, 315, 233 P.3d 1221, 1237 (2010) (citation omitted). This Court exercises free review and does not defer to the findings of the trial court. Todd v. Sullivan Constr. LLC, 146 Idaho 118, 124, 191 P.3d 196, 202 (2008).

In conducting this review, [this Court] determines whether there was sufficient evidence to justify submitting the claim to the jury, viewing as true all adverse evidence and drawing every legitimate inference in favor of the party opposing the motion for a directed verdict.' *Id*.

"[W]here a non-moving party produces sufficient evidence from which reasonable minds could find in its favor, a motion for directed verdict should be denied." *Lawton v. City of Pocatello*, 126 Idaho 454, 458, 886 P.2d 330, 334 (1994) (citation omitted). This Court exercises free review over questions of law. *Armstrong v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 147 Idaho 67, 69, 205 P.3d 1203, 1205 (2009)." *Enriquez v. Idaho Power*, 152 Idaho 562, 565, 272 P.3d 534, 537 (2012).

Given the evidence that had been presented to the District Court during DTC Group's case, and given the District Court's familiarity with the applicable law, the District Court properly denied the Appellants' Motion for a Directed Verdict, as there was sufficient evidence from which the Jury could find Appellant's liable for tortious interference with DTC Group's contracts.

(b) Notwithstanding a Customer's three-day right to cancel, a party to a contract can maintain an interference claim against a third party even if the contract subject of the claim is terminable at-will.

DOT argues that because DTC Group wasn't registered with the Idaho Attorney General ("AG") under the Act, DTC Group is essentially stripped of its right to bring a cause of action against any third party interfering with its contracts, and, that Appellants' interference is excused because the contracts in which DTC Group had with its customers were not valid. Appellants raised a similar argument in its pre-trial Motion for Summary Judgment, which the District Court denied

(1) The Act

The Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act, I.C. § 48-1001 et seq., requires telephone solicitors to register with the AG. See I.C. § 48-1004. Idaho Code § 48-1007(2) provides in pertinent part that "[i]f a telephone solicitor violates any applicable provision of this chapter, any contract of sale or purchase is null and void and unenforceable."

The Act also provides that the solicitor must provide the customer three days in which to cancel their purchase. *See* I.C. § 48-1004.

(2) Appellants' Pre-Trial Motion for Summary Judgment

In their Motion for Summary Judgment filed in December of 2014, Appellants argued that because "DTC is in violation of the Idaho Telephone Solicitation Act, it has no ability to enter into any binding contracts, and any purported purchase contract it claims to have are "null

and void." If it is unable to enter into or enforce contracts, it suffers no losses, as a matter of law..." R. 0001000.

In ruling on Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment, the District Court found:

... I don't think you need to get to the distinction between void, voidable, enforceable. The statute used the language 'enforceable and void' which indicates to the reader, clearly, that in an action to enforce it is unenforceable. So the language of the statute itself dictates that there is something there to enforce or not enforce.

Tr., 53:7 – 53:14.

The District Court went on to hold:

I don't see the Telephone Solicitation Act as being directed toward competitors. It gives right to someone who is solicited as a customer ... But I don't believe one can go as far as to say that it gives anybody off the street the right to come in and [declare] void and existing contract ... it's the customer's ability to declare it void and not enforceable ... I don't believe that the defendants in this case have standing to raise that issue, certainly not in the context of this case.

Tr., 68:23 - 64:20.

Finally, in ruling on DOT Compliance's Motion for Summary Judgment, the District Court held:

So what we have is someone says, 'I will perform this service,' someone who says, 'I want that service,' 'Here is the price.' I pay the price, and now I have a transaction. I have a payment for a promised service. That's a contract.

The person who is doing the paying, absolutely, apparently under the statute, would have the right to cancel that contract and withdraw. No question. That is their right. That doesn't mean some outside party has the right to come in and attempt to get that contract cancelled ... Tr., 71; 24 – 72; 11.

(3) Applicable Case Law Regarding Terminable At-Will Contracts

The case law that pertains to this case, as recognized by the District Court, is set forth in a long line of Idaho Supreme Court cases. For example, in *Barlow v. International Harvester Co.*, 95 Idaho 881, 894, 522 P.2d 1102, 1115 (1974), the Court held that whether some aspect of a contract:

Rendered the contract unenforceable in an action brought by one of the parties to the contract is irrelevant to the question of whether the plaintiffs established a prima facie case of tort of interference with a contract. Protection is extended against unjustifiable interference with contracts even though the contract is voidable or unenforceable in an adversary proceeding.

Id., citing *Mitchell v. Aldrich*, 163 A.2d 833, 836 (Vt. 1960); W.L. Prosser, Handbook of the Law of Torts § 129, p. 932 (4th ed. 1971).

The Court in *Barlow* went on to quote the Kansas case of *Jackson v. O'Neill*, 317 P. 440, 443 (1957):

The trouble with plaintiff's contention is that he was not a party to the contract. Such a contention might have been important if one of the parties to the contract had refused to perform. The weakness of plaintiff's argument is that the contract was not subject to collateral attack by him or any other third party. The contract was valid for all purposes except as a basis for an action to enforce it.

Id. at 894, 522 P.2d at 1115.

DOT's claim that DTC Group cannot assert a claim for interference with contract because a customer cannot breach their contract with DTC Group is without merit.³ The subject contracts could have and likely would have been performed but for the wrongful interference of DOT, which interference caused DTC Group substantial damages.

Moreover, the first requirement of the tort of interference with a contract is the existence of a contract that would entitle a party to that contract to recover damages for its breach. *Idaho First Nat'l Bank v. Bliss Valley Foods, Inc.*, 121 Idaho 266, 286, 824 P.2d 841, 861 (1991).

In this case, if DTC Group did not perform, the customer with whom it contracted could recover damages for DTC Group's breach. The elements of contract are satisfied when the DTC Group customer agrees to accept the offer to purchase and pays for the products and services sold by DTC Group. *See* IDJI 6.01.11.1 (competent parties, lawful purpose, valid consideration, mutual agreement to essential terms). There is not dispute that the customer has the right to cancel its contract with DTC Group within three days of entering into it, but that does not speak to the issue or support Appellants' claim that the Act excuses their intentional interference with that contract.

³ See e.g. Id., footnote 3 the issue of voidability because of noncompliance may still be the subject matter of an action for interference with contract. W.L. PROSSER, HANDBOOK OF LAW OF TORTS § 129, p. 932 (4th ed. 1971. Moreover, the contract was fully performed on one side when [one of the parties], received consideration for his promise to perform.

(c) Appellants' intentional and often defamatory interference with DTC's contracts cannot be condoned by this Court or excused under a consumer protection statute.

Appellants attempt to convince this Court that the <u>only</u> statement DOT agents *ever* made to DTC Group contracted customers pertained to their three day right to cancel, without more. *See* Appellant's brief, pg. 17. This representation is not supported by the record in this case.

DOT Compliance did not dispute that it was its policy to interfere with (or "take") contracts DTC Group, even if those contracts were performed and paid for.

Mr. Crossett testified that DTC Group staff have been told by customers cancelling their contracts that they were told DTC Group was going out of business soon, that DTC Group didn't know what they were doing, that if they (the customer) signed up with DTC Group they would fail their safety audit, that DTC Group was being investigated by the FBI, that DTC Group was made up of former DOT employees who "stole" ideas from DOT, that DTC Group isn't certified to do business in certain states, that DTC Group is a "scam", and so on. Tr., 236; 6 - 18. Mr. Crossett testified that these customers were clearly contacted by someone at DOT who gave them extremely negative information about DTC Group, which caused them to become very angry and call back to DTC Group and cancel. Tr., 237; 6 - 17; see also Tr., 164; 18 - 23; Tr., 165; 8 - 19.

Far from simply "notifying" the customer of their right to cancel (as DOT would have this Court believe), these DOT sales people say anything to take a contract from DTC Group.

Katie Smith, who at the time of trial had been an employee of DOT for over two years testified as follows:

Q: And are you familiar with the policies and procedures of DOT Compliance as it pertains to sales calls?

A: Yes.

Q: If a customer is contacted by – if a customer has contracted with DTC Group and [DOT] across them, it's the policy of DOT Compliance that you can try to get that sale from the customer, correct.

A: Yes.

Q: And it's also the policy of DOT Compliance that you can instruct the customer to go to the bank and get their charges back?

A: Yes.

Tr., 401; 20 – 402; 11.

Ms. Smith went on to testify:

Q: Okay. But just to reiterate, you – notwithstanding the fact that they have paid DTC Group –

A. No.

Q. -- you will try get the sale or send them to their bank and get the sale.

A. Correct.

Tr., 407; 14 - 20.

With respect to the charge backs referenced in Ms. Smith's testimony, Mr. Crossett testified that about six months into operating the business that DTC Group started getting "charge backs," which is when a customer goes to their bank, alleges fraud or some type of

wrongdoing on the part of the seller. Tr., 167; 8 – 17. Based on the several conversations he had with customers that had charged back fees paid to DTC Group, Mr. Crossett testified it was his opinion that the customers were being sent directly to the bank as a mechanism to cancel their contract with DTC Group, by DOT. Tr. 172; 6-8. This occurred prior to and after the execution of the Settlement Agreement, as was confirmed by Ms. Smith of DOT in her referenced testimony.

DOT employees have gone so far as to place DTC Group contracted customers on a phone call to DTC Group, and "assist" them with cancelling their contract with DTC Group, often confronting the DTC Group employee when they attempted to talk with the customer. Tr., 243; 1 – 20. For example, Exhibit 1 Track 4 was played during the examination of Ryan Bunnell (DOT's sales manager). It is a phone recording of Ryan Bunnell who has a customer ("Robert") who contracted with DTC Group on the line. Mr. Bunnell is speaking with a DTC employee (who is also named Ryan but designated on the script as DTC):

Hello. My name is Ryan and what I'm going to do is I'm going to make sure that I've got your number here and I've got this 208 number that I'm getting a phone call from, and I'll make sure that one of those two phone numbers will get called from my President. His name is David Crossett. And I want to make sure that you are taken care of as a client. Okay? And I want to make sure that you get the most information filled in completely, okay?

Ryan Actually, he's asking you to cancel. He's asking you to cancel the charge that you made on his credit card. What does it matter?

DTC The only person that I can deal with - - that deals with that in our company is the President, which is why I'm going to give that number, okay?

Ryan No. If you deal with the fact that he gave you his credit card information and now he wants to cancel it ... Hey, Robert, all you got to do is call your

credit card company, Robert, and have them cancel.

DTC All I can tell you...

Ryan There's absolutely nothing that DTC Group can do.

Exhibit 1, Track 4, Phone call between Ryan (of DOT) and DTC Group

Mr. Bunnell's credibility also had to have been questioned by the Jury. Mr. Bunnell, who is again the sales manager at DOT and trained under Dave and Jeff Minert, monitors and supervises all sales staff at DOT. Tr., 586; 6-9.⁴ Mr. Bunnell testified on direct examination, in response to the question "what is your personal policy about making disparaging comments about DTC Group or any competitor," Mr. Bunnell responded "I think it is despicable. I don't say anything about competitors, whether it be DTC or Foley or whoever." Tr., 582; 17-22.

DTC Group played the following track involving Bunnell:

Ryan Hello.

Allen Good morning.

Ryan Good morning. How are you?

Allen I'm fine.

Ryan Good, good. Hey, my name is Ryan with Dot Compliance Service. I just

had a few federal compliance questions to go over with you about the DOT

application.

Allen Sure. Go ahead.

. . .

 $^{^4}$ Jeff Minert is the President of DOT and Dave Minert handles the operations of DOT. Tr., 614; 24-615;16.

Allen I was just saying, there was just a lady from - - her name was Cherie - - and

she called from...

Ryan DTC Group?

Allen Yeah, regarding there's an interview that's been scheduled for tomorrow at

9:00 a.m. for...

Ryan So did you pay them?

Allen Yes.

Ryan Okay. If I were you, you should cancel with them immediately because the

biggest problem with them is they just raised their prices like 40% on everything for absolutely no reason, and they're an **inexperienced company**. The interview that they schedule to do that driver qualification file, **they don't do the driver qualification file very well**. We actually do the driver qualification files -- we're the ones that kind of started the interview. We've been in business for over 20 years. They've been I

business for like a year.

Allen Okay, so I guess now I'm - - I have to admit Ryan, I'm confused. So who

is...

Ryan DTC Group is a company.

Allen Okay, I understand.

Ryan And my company is DOT Compliance Service, and what we do is all the

same kind of -- we actually do a lot more than them. They just do drug testing and somewhat driver files here and there. It just depends on who they're talking to, but most of the time they help people with driver files. They're not very good at 'em. Haven't been doing them for very long. They just raised their prices by 40%. Quality, for the same kind of service, but better from us. It's even cheaper. If you pay, I'm guessing what? A

hundred and eighty something?

Allen Yeah, that's right.

Ryan Yeah.

Allen Okay, tell you what Ryan. It seems like I've got to do a little research here.

Is there a good number to call you back at?

Ryan Yeah.

Allen What is your number?

Ryan It's 866.

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